I. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

THOMAS FORD MCCOY, JR., was the defendant in this capital case, and he will be referred to in this brief as either "appellant," "defendant," or by his proper name.

References to the Record on Appeal will be by the volume number in Arabic numbers followed by the appropriate page number, all in parentheses.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An Indictment filed in the Circuit Court for Walton County on May 5, 2009, charged Thomas McCoy, with one count of first-degree murder (1 R 15-16). The State also filed a notice that if he were convicted of that crime, it would seek to have a sentence of death imposed (1 R 22). The defendant pled not guilty and filed several death penalty related motions (1 R 32, see generally volume I of the record).

McCoy later changed his plea and pled guilty to the murder charge (7 R 2-3). The court, after conducting a voluntariness inquiry, accepted it (7 R 19). He then proceeded to the penalty phase of the trial before Judge Kelvin Wells. A jury was selected, and evidence, argument, and instructions on the law presented. The jury returned a recommendation of death by a vote of 11-1 (4 R 654).

The court, following that recommendation, sentenced McCoy to death. In aggravation, it found:

1. McCoy had a prior conviction for a violent felony.¹

2. He committed the murder in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification.

(5 R 955-56)

۰**،**

۰,

¹ McCoy was convicted on November 19, 2010 of aggravated assault on law enforcement and obstructing or opposing an officer arising from an incident with the police officers who arrested him in Tampa for the murder (13 R 296).

In mitigation it found,

٠,

ĥ

1. McCoy was under the influence of an extreme mental or emotional disturbance at the time of the murder (moderate weight).

2. He has no significant history of prior criminal activity (moderate weight).

- 3. His family has a history of depression and mental illness (moderate).
- 4. His family has a history of alcoholism (little weight).
- 5. He was raised in a dysfunctional family that suffered mental illness,

psychological and emotional abuse (little weight).

(5 R 957-59)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. The events leading to the murder of Curtis Brown

Thomas McCoy had worked as a service technician for the Coca Cola Company in the northwest part of Florida since sometime in the early 1990s (11 R 126, 129, 12 R 235, 260). He was a good worker, who did a good job, took pride in his work, showed up on time, rarely took time off or missed days, needed little supervision, and got along with customers and other employees (11 R 155, 153, 186, 12 R 260). The company trusted him so that it gave him a vehicle to use for calls(that he kept in meticulous condition (12 R 261)), and, as mentioned, left him alone to go about his work district answering service calls to repair coke machines that may have broken and needed repair. He enjoyed his job and working for Coca Cola, and the company recognized his satisfactory or superior work and said so by way of letters of appreciation or awards for a number of years of good work and service (11 R 171, 12 R 261, Defense exhibit 1).

McCoy worked as part of a five man team (12 R 252). It was a friendly group that enjoyed playing practical jokes and teasing and aggravating each other (11 R 154-55). Ray Jackson and Curtis Brown were part of this group, and, like McCoy, they were good employees who got along with each other and their customers. Jackson liked McCoy, and he had had him over to his home for dinner several times over the years (11 R 128, 153). They also had attended the annual Christmas parties and apparently had had good times together (11 R 128-29). In Jackson's mind neither he nor Brown had ever mistreated or denigrated McCoy (11 R 129-30).

۰.

4

On a personal level, by 2009 McCoy was a 42 year old single man who had lived with his mother for several years (14 R 468). He wanted to get married, have a family, and generally have his wife stay at home to take care of the children (13 R 412, 14 R 468). Eventually he bought or built a house of which he was very proud and kept in very good condition (13 R 398). Also in his personal and professional appearance he was always well or appropriately dressed and groomed (12 R 261).

There was, however, a darker side to the defendant. His father had been mean, verbally abusive, dominating, controlling and critical of his wife and children (15 R 511). This apparently was a generational characteristic, as McCoy's grandmother had been physically and verbally abusive to her children (15 R 541-42). As a result McCoy's father was mean and abusive as well (15 R 542).

Also possibly generational, he had bouts of depression. But McCoy was able to control the depression when on medication, and he felt that it helped (12 R 246). McCoy also had problems relating with women (12 R 247).

5

Although he liked working for Coca Cola, in 2006 he resigned to see if he could strike out on his own, and he apparently got a job at the hospital at Eglin Air Force Base (11 R 144, 12 R 263). By all accounts he left on good terms, and he and Jackson would speak on occasion afterwards (11 R 144).

١,

4

Life after that, however, became more difficult. While at Coca Cola he had health benefits that included him being able to get medications to treat his depression (14 R 472). After leaving Coke he no longer had health insurance, and he only sporadically could afford or was given Zoloft to help him deal with this mental health problem (14 R 470).²

By 2009 his mental condition had significantly deteriorated, and he was having suicidal and homicidal thoughts (15 R 512, 546, 548, 553, 555; 18 R 55, 74). Accentuating his depression, he was also becoming psychotic (15 R 533, 537, 546; 18 R 34-35, 37). His business had not prospered as he had hoped, and although he had dated some, there were no marriage prospects on the horizon (13 R 413-14).³

²When McCoy could not afford to buy the medication, he would on occasion get samples of the drugs from his doctor, and with the doctor's knowledge and permission (14 R 470).

³He had gone out with a woman 13 years older than him for several months, and was liked or "loved" by her family (14 R 462, 464). The relationship, however, never developed, and after a while they agreed to go their separate ways (14 R 463).

He also feared losing the house he loved, and his financial situation had deteriorated to the point he was possibly facing bankruptcy (15 R 509).

۰,

He repeatedly called the Coca Cola Company to see if they would rehire him, but it had low turnover, and no positions were open (12 R 254).

While at Coca Cola, McCoy had attended a meeting at which company health benefits were discussed. During the discussion Curtis Brown, apparently talking to McCoy, said that he had to pay more than McCoy because he had a family and McCoy did not (11 R 179; 12 R 267). That comment upset McCoy because he did not have a wife and children (11 R 179).

Sometime later, during the annual Christmas party, McCoy brought a date with him, and when some of those at the party, including Ray Jackson, saw McCoy with his friend, they made the comment that "he did have a girlfriend after all." (11 R 180, 14 R 467).

Until 2006 or so, the Coca Cola Company had a policy that technicians would be paid for their work as soon as they left home and went to their first call (11 R 181). In that year, the Atlanta headquarters changed it so that they would not be paid until they got to their first work site. That also upset McCoy (12 R 255-56).

As mentioned, by the first part of 2009 McCoy's mental state had seriously deteriorated. In the latter part of November 2008, he ran into a former Coca Cola

employee, Jamie Leddon, and during the ensuing conversation, McCoy told him that he had recently lost his job with Gulf Ice because he "didn't fit in." (12 R 232). From his demeanor, it was obvious to Leddon that McCoy was still very upset, so to calm him down his friend asked him if he had seen Ray Jackson (12 R 233). The defendant said he was very upset with Ray and wanted to kill him because the defendant had called him after he had lost his job and "Ray laughed at him." (12 R 233)⁴ As Leddon recalled, McCoy's face was flush and the blood vessels in his neck were bulging (12 R 238). He said, "he was laughing at me because I am going to lose everything." (12 R 233). He had bought a gun and materials to make a silencer, and he was "going to shoot him in one knee and shoot him in the other and then when he was screaming in pain he was going to walk up and laugh at him in his face and shoot him between the eyes." (12 R 233) Leddon, who saw no rational reason for this anger and thought he might be having "some kind of mental issues" (12 R 241),⁵ told Jackson, who, after talking with his supervisor, called the Valparaiso Police Department and Okaloosa County Sheriff's Office and filed a complaint (11 R 143). They made a "welfare check" on McCoy, but otherwise did

1

⁴By all accounts Ray Jackson was not simply a "good guy," but a "great guy." (12 R 239). Similarly everyone like Curt Brown (12 R 239).

⁵Leddon had never seen or heard of either Jackson or Brown mistreating McCoy in any way (12 R 244).

nothing (11 R 184, 12 R 224). He told the police that he was taking Zoloft because of his financial struggles, and he had lost a friend (12 R 226). He admitted "he didn't like Ray," even though he had at one time considered him a friend, but he told the police to tell Ray that if he saw McCoy, not to approach him. "He would take this as a warning not to contact him." (12 R 226)

 \mathbf{h}

2

In the first week or so of April 2009, the defendant talked with Wendell Kilgore, another employee of Coca Cola, and told him that "he had something big planned and I may see it on CNN." (11 R 178).⁶ Kilgore thought this was more than the normal depression a person has when looking for work, and he reported it to the police (11 R 190).

By April 9, 2009, McCoy had decided he wanted to kill Ray Jackson, but Curtis Brown and Ralph King were also possible targets (15 R 599, 631).⁷ He talked to a Keith Hobbs, another Coca Cola employee, and told him, Hobbs, he was

⁶ McCoy would later tell Dr. James Larson, a psychologist, that "I wanted to go out in a blaze, a ring of fire." (15 R 595). He also told Dr. Harry McClaren, another psychologist, "he wanted to be taken out in a blaze and a shootout with law enforcement, which accounted for some of the weapons that he had with him." (18 R 21-22)

⁷Ralph King was a service manager for Coca Cola when McCoy worked for the company, and the defendant blamed him, Jackson, and Brown for not being rehired (15 R 639). He also thought King had made fun of him, even though others who worked with and knew both men were unaware of any hard feelings Mr. King had towards McCoy (12 R 248, 250). King, for his part, never saw McCoy make threats or exhibit any hostility to any other employee (12 R 261).

a "good guy" who took people for who they were. This was unlike some people, and he was mad at Curtis Brown and Ray Jackson, apparently because of what they had said three years earlier about the health insurance and his relationship with women (12 R 267-68). Someone placed a call to Coca Cola Service Center that day reporting a broken machine at "Carley Car Care" in DeFuniak Springs (11 R 132). No one responded to the call, and a truck similar to the one the defendant drove was captured on the facility's security camera driving by several times (11 R 148).

McCoy called the Coca Cola Service Center during the morning April 10, 2009 to report a broken machine at the student lounge on the campus of Northwest Florida State College in DeFuniak Springs (11 R 75, 141, 163). Ray Jackson normally would have gone there, but he was a bit busy, and Curtis Brown said he would do it for him (11 R 139). He showed up with his tool bag to make the repair. By then McCoy was in the lounge, and when Brown showed up, he realized it was not Jackson, but he decided that Brown would do (15 R 638). He shot him six times, killing him (12 R 198).

McCoy left and drove to Tampa where he took a room at a local hotel using his name (13 R 275). Eleven days later, a Florida Regional Fugitive Task Force in Tampa learned that he was staying there, and a team of men went to the hotel (13 R 276-78, 305). They saw the defendant, and one of the agents called out to him that they were the police and he was to put his hands up (13 R 280). McCoy, who had returned from a fast food restaurant and had some food in his hand, turned to face the officer, turned away, then turned back. It is not clear who shot first, but the defendant had a gun and he shot towards the officer (13 R 282-83). The officer either opened fire or returned fire, and he hit the defendant in the back and buttocks (13 R 283). None of the Task Force members were hit by the defendant's single shot (13 R 286).

B. The psychologist's testimony

۰.

As part of his penalty phase defense, McCoy called Dr. James Larson, a psychologist who had examined and diagnosed him regarding the homicide of Curtis Brown. At the <u>Spencer</u> hearing, the State called Dr. Harry McClaren, also a psychologist, who had similarly examined and diagnosed the defendant.

1. Dr. Larson's opinion.

Thomas McCoy comes from a family that had a generational history of severe depression. His grandmother was extraordinarily cruel and mean, and she instilled those traits in her son, the defendant's father. He was, like his mother, very cruel, domineering and controlling (15 R 511). He was an alcoholic and verbally abusive, criticizing and making fun of his son (13 R 394, 439; 15 R 511). He told the defendant when he was a child that he was stupid (15 R 511). As a result, the boy

grew to be a man without a good, positive self-concept, careful not to offend anyone and particularly attuned to the subtle signs his father was angry or about to become angry (15 R 512). Consequently, he "over interpreted social situations in a negative way." (15 R 512).

٠.

4

However, in one respect he became like his father. He was also an alcoholic (15 R 516, 536, 616, 18 R 34). But, he became more. He became depressed, seriously, mentally ill depressed (15 R 500). As Dr. Larson explained, on a scale of 1-10 (with 10 being catatonic, staying in bed depressed) he was at most times an 8, but at the time of the murder he was a 10 (15 R 546).

But, he was more than simply seriously depressed. He also displayed symptoms of psychosis (15 R 501). As a result, this serious depression and psychotic breaks with reality, including auditory hallucinations (15 R 512, 549, 587, 649-50, 18 R 22, 35), led to suicidal and homicidal thoughts (15 R 512-13, 549).

Now, Dr. Larson was not the only one to recognize McCoy had significant mental problems. The defendant had gone to two general practitioner medical doctors, and even they had prescribed medications (Zoloft and Lamentil, both antidepressants) for him because one thought he was bipolar and the other as depressed (15 R 519-20, 523).⁸

٩,

Hence, he had taken Zoloft, an antidepressant medicine, but he frequently was noncompliant in taking it as prescribed. He would, for example, occasionally not take it periodically as required, and when he realized this he would take more than prescribed, hoping to "catch up." (15 R 529). All it did, however, was make him sick and possibly damage his liver (15 R 530).

But, he had more problems than simple noncompliance. After he left working for Coca-Cola he lost his medical insurance, and could afford neither the medicine, nor visits to the doctor (14 R 470, 472, 15 R 530). He effectively stopped taking the medication, and only on occasion could he get samples from his doctor, who was willing to give him some (14 R 470).

Instead, McCoy would use alcohol to self-medicate his depression and anxiety (15 R 515-16, 646). Apparently, it works well to treat psychotic people who hear voices (15 R 515-16), but ultimately alcohol is a depressant, so he simply made his bad situation worse (15 R 515). That McCoy needed or used alcohol excessively became evident when the police searched his motel room in Tampa at

⁸Dr. Larson said that it was common for doctors to make different diagnoses within a short time, particularly in this case where depression and bipolar disorder are "kissing cousins" of one another (15 R 520).

the time of his arrest and found it littered with beer cans (15 R 589). He also was drunk at the time of the murder, which had merely replicated his pattern of heavy drinking in the months before (15 R 516).

٩,

Thus, at the time of the murder, McCoy not only was extraordinarily depressed (15 R 546), he was also under the influence of alcohol, and had psychotic breaks with reality with voices telling him to kill Brown (15 R 512, 549, 587, 649-50, 18 R 22, 35). He did so, and also wanted to kill Jackson, because of the perceived insults both had made years earlier, which he had not forgotten (11 R 180, 12 R 233, 14 R 467).

Consequently, Larson found that both statutory mental mitigators applied. Although he had the capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct at the time of the homicide his ability to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law was substantially impaired (15 R 602). Also, at the time of the murder, he was under the influence of an extreme mental or emotional disturbance (15 R 550-52). §921.141(6)(b),(e) Fla. Stats. (2009). 2. Dr. McClaren.

٠.

۰.

As mentioned, Dr. McClaren testified at the <u>Spencer</u> hearing, and in many respects his testimony echoed that of Dr. Larson.⁹ Like Dr. Larson he believed that at the time of the murder, McCoy was under the influence of an extreme mental or emotional disturbance (18 R 34). He did not believe, however, that his capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct at the time of the homicide or his ability to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law was substantially impaired (18 R 43-44).¹⁰

In most other aspects, however, he agreed with Dr. Larson's analysis and conclusion. Depression often runs in families (18 R 58), McCoy's father had badly, emotionally abused him (18 R 20). He also found the defendant to be suffering from a major depression with a "probable psychosis and probable alcohol dependence." $(18 R 34)^{11}$ This extreme level of depression contributed to him

⁹When he met with Dr. McClaren, McCoy had twisted his eyebrows up like a "devil's horns." After meeting with him for a while, they took a break for lunch, and when they resumed, the defendant had only one of the eyebrows twisted. He was, as he said, "half as horny." (18 R 38). The psychologist thought "he was a little odd there." (18 R 38)

¹⁰He could conform his conduct to the requirements of the law, Dr. McClaren said, because he chose not to kill Ray Jackson before killing Brown (18 R 44).

¹¹Auditory hallucinations or delusions were evidence of the break with reality, and McCoy used earplugs to "help him not hear things." (18 R 35) He heard drums beating, the devil growling (18 R 37). When he killed Brown, he heard a voice telling him to "Do it; go ahead and do it. I wish you'd do it," or, "Come on; let's do it; do this thing; you've already got the gun." (18 R 22, 27).

being both homicidal and suicidal, the suicidal aspect occurring after the homicide and being more of a desire to be killed by the police when they tried to confront him (18 R 51, 63).¹²

Dr. McClaren also found that McCoy had taken antidepressant drugs such as Thorazine (18 R 37, 54, 75). Like Dr. Larson, he concluded that he may have been non-compliant at times in taking them (18 R 59-60).

At the time of the homicide, McCoy had had some trouble buying his medications, and he was depressed, feeling as if he had lost everything, he had no relationships with women, he was about to lose his house, and he could not keep a job (18 R 18). He blamed this turn of events on Ray Jackson, Ralph King, and Curtis Brown (18 R 18), but he singled out Jackson and because as his situation with work deteriorated, he became depressed, hopeless and believed that Jackson was actively working to keep him from getting his old job (18 R 18-19).

Thus, he wanted to kill Jackson, and he originally planned to do so at a Wal-Mart. That effort never materialized, however, so he settled on killing him at the college. When Brown showed up instead, he "reprogrammed" himself to kill

٠.

٠.

He also had possible visual hallucinations (18 R 47).

¹²McCoy believed that if he killed himself he would go to hell whereas if someone else killed him he would go to heaven (18 R 64).

him. "He would be good enough. I went into a panic attack. I thought I heard a voice, 'Come on; let's do this thing; we've already got the gun.' I decide to go back in to kill him." (18 R 49) Justifying himself, he noticed that Brown had left his tool bag unattended; which, in McCoy's mind, was a major sin (18 R 27-28). Moreover, when he confronted Brown with the gun, the latter had simply said "McCoy," and bowed up. Had he begged, reminded him of his wife and kids, he would not have shot him. Instead, he blocked him and said "McCoy." (18 R 49-50) So he shot the hypocrite (18 R 27) six times, very fast (18 R 66).

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