,	
Entra O	₹141 1 4 4	2:00
ta ana ana ana an	·	7 1 - 1 - 1 - 1
5Y		

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC12-676

THOMAS FORD MCCOY, JR.,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR WALTON COUNTY, CRIMINAL DIVISION

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

TAMARA MILOSEVIC Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 93614 Office of the Attorney General Rivergate Plaza -- Suite 650 444 Brickell Avenue Miami, Florida 33131 PH. (305) 377-5441 FAX (305) 377-5655 Primary: capapp@myfloridalegal.com Secondary: Tamara.Milosevic@ myfloridalegal.com

##

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

Curtis Brown entered the room where the Coke machine was located, placed his machine repair tools in the room, and proceeded to leave the room. During this short absence, the defendant entered the room and waited for Curtis Brown to return. Once Curtis Brown returned to the room, the defendant shot him with every bullet in his handgun without any provocation or justification on the part of Curtis Brown. After Curtis Brown fell to the ground, the defendant stepped over him, left the room, and drove away from the area. Curtis Brown received six gunshot wounds and died from his wounds.

The facts demonstrate a lack of moral or legal justification for killing Curtis Brown. Multiple during the penalty phase testified witnesses proceeding that the defendant hated Ray Jackson and Curtis Brown because of events that occurred years earlier. The defendant also blamed them and Ralph King for his inability to regain employment at the Coca-Cola Company. Therefore, the Court finds that the premeditated aggravating and calculated, cold, circumstance has been proven beyond a reasonable doubt. Accordingly, the Court gives it great weight.

\* \* \* \*

[FN2] Mental health expert who testified for the defendant at the penalty-phase proceeding. [FN3] Mental health expert who testified for the state at the Spencer hearing.

(Vol. 5 at 953-55)

The following four requirements must be met in order to find the aggravating factor of CCP: 1) the killing must have been the product of cool and calm reflection and not an act prompted by emotional frenzy, panic, or a fit of rage (cold); 2) the defendant must have had a careful plan or prearranged design to commit murder before the fatal incident (calculated); 3) the defendant must have exhibited heightened premeditation (premeditated); and 4) there must have been no pretense of moral or legal justification. Lynch v. State, 841 So. 2d 362, 371 (Fla. 2003).

This Court has held that a defendant can be emotionally and mentally disturbed or suffer from a mental illness but still have the ability to execute cool and calm reflection, make a careful plan or prearranged design to commit murder, and exhibit heightened premeditation. <u>See Evans v. State</u>, 800 So. 2d 182, 193 (Fla. 2001)(citing <u>Sexton v. State</u>, 775 So. 2d 923, 924 (Fla. 2000)). Even if a trial court recognizes and gives substantial weight to the mental mitigator, that does not necessarily mean that the murder was an act prompted by emotional frenzy, panic, or a fit of rage. <u>Id.</u> "The 'cold' element generally has been found wanting only for 'heated' murders of passion, in which loss of emotional control is evident from the facts, though perhaps also supported by expert opinion." <u>Walls v. State</u>, 641 So. 2d 381, 387-88 (Fla. 1994).

In the case at hand, the record is devoid of any evidence that Defendant acted out of frenzy, panic, or rage. In fact, the evidence shows that Defendant carefully devised a plan to commit this murder. First, Defendant announced his plan to kill Jackson to Jamie Leddon in November of 2008, months prior to the murder. (Vol. 12 at 233-34) He had already bought a gun and materials to build a silencer and intended to shoot Jackson in his knees and

after Jackson would have started screaming, Defendant would have shot him in the eyes. (Vol. 12 at 232-34)

Second, Defendant acted on his plan to commit a murder days before the incident. Before Defendant made a fake service call to the college that resulted in murdering Brown, Defendant attempted the realization of his plan on two separate occasions by attempting to lure the victim by making two fake service calls: first one at Wal-Mart and second one at Carley's Car Care. (Vol. 11 at 138-40, 160-61, Vol. 15 at 599, 626-29, Vol. 18 at 21-22, 24-29) A few days before the murder, Defendant placed a fake service call at the Wal-Mart. (Vol. 18 at 23-24, Vol. 15 at 628-29) Defendant knew that Wal-Mart was Jackson's area and intended to lure him and kill him. (Vol. 18 at 23-24, 15 at 628-29) Defendant waited for Jackson, and when Vol. Jackson finally showed up, Defendant followed him. (Vol. 18 at 24, Vol. 15 at 628-29) However, Defendant decided to abandon his plan because there were too many people present. (Vol. 18 at 24, Vol. 15 at 628-29) On April 9, 2009, a day before the murder, Defendant made a fake service call at Carley's Car Care in DeFuniak Springs attempting to lure Jackson. (Vol. 15 at 629-30, Vol. 11 at 131-32) Defendant waited for Jackson at the parking lot, but Jackson did not show up. (Vol. 11 at 130-38, 150, Vol. 15 at 626-30)

Third, a couple of days before the murder of Brown, Defendant called Wendell Kilgore and told him that he had something big planned and that he might have seen him on CNN. (Vol. 11 at 177-78,184)

Fourth, Defendant admitted how this murder occurred. Τn particular, Defendant admitted that he had developed a plan to murder Jackson days before the incident and that before he placed a fake service call at the college, he called Wal-Mart and a car care business, but these attempts did not go through. (Vol. 15 at 599, 626-29, Vol. 18 at 21-22) Defendant further admitted that after he made a fake service call at the college, he waited the victim in the area, and that when Brown showed up instead of Jackson, he decided that Brown was good enough. (Vol. 18 at 26-29) Defendant further admitted that he shot Brown six times and after murdering Brown, stepped over him and left the scene. (Vol. 18 at 26-29) Defendant also stated that after the murder, he threw away his phone, spray painted his truck in order to alter his appearance and left to Tampa. (Vol. 18 at-26-29)

These actions evidence the existence of deliberate plan that is contrary to Defendant's assertion that the murder was not the product of cool and calm reflection. In fact, Defendant's actions are the antithesis to a murder committed

during an emotional frenzy, panic, or a fit of rage. Though it is possible that the events leading up to this murder (Defendant's perception that his former co-workers mistreated him, economical difficulties he suffered after he resigned from Coca-Cola and frustration because he did not get marry and have a family) may have emotionally charged Defendant, his actions at the time of the murder-luring the victim to the murder scene, waiting for the victim to show up and shooting the victim six times-do not suggest a frenzied, a spur-of-the-moment attack.

This Court has upheld CCP under similar circumstances. In <u>Evans v. State</u>, 800 So. 2d 182, 186 (Fla. 2001), the defendant argued that because the trial court found and gave substantial weight to the mitigating factor that the murder was committed while the defendant was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance, this factor made it impossible for him to be able to formulate a "cold-blooded intent to kill." Further, the trial court in <u>Evans</u>, found as a nonstatutory mitigation that the defendant suffered from a mental or emotional disorder although the experts did not agree as to the type of disorder. <u>Id.</u> at 193. This Court noted that the trial court in the sentencing order recognized that irrespective of the defendant's mental illness at the time of the crime, he was able to control his actions and plan his next steps. The defendant was able to

recover from a sudden break down in his plans to commit a home invasion robbery, managed to get back to Orlando so that he could wait for the victim's arrival, then interrogated the victim, had the victim bound and gagged and then removed the victim from the apartment before finally shooting him. Id. This Court held that "while the events leading up to the murder may have made Evans emotionally charged, his actions do not suggest a frenzied, spur-of-the-moment attack." Id.; see also Conde v. State, 860 So. 2d 930, 954 (Fla. 2003)(The defendant disputed the trial court's finding of the "cold" element of CCP relying on his expert's opinion that at the time of the murder he was in a disturbed stated of mind and suffered from a major depression. This Court upheld the trial court's finding of "cold and calm reflection" element of CCP where "while defendant's mental health experts opined that the defendant acted while in disturbed state of mind and defendant's characterization of the incident in his confession was consistent with that assessment, other evidence suggested his actions were spawned by his ongoing separation from his wife, which in trial court's words involved "feelings of sadness" but no "level of intensity of emotion."); 3d 514, 532-33 (Fla. 2012)(The Peterson v. State, 94 So. defendant challenged that the murder was committed coldly and that the trial court erred in not sufficiently weighing the fact

the defendant was highly addicted to cocaine which that influenced his decision to kill the victim. This Court held that the defendant acted coldly where he lured the victim to the crime scene by pretending that his vehicle broke down, used brass knuckles to beat the victim and then shot the victim twice in the head, disposed of his clothing and weapons, returned to his hotel, took a shower and went to pick up his girlfriend); Occhicone v. State, 570 So. 2d 902, 905 (Fla. 1990)(upholding the CCP aggravating factor where evidence showed that the defendant had contemplated and verbalized the murder for days and weeks prior to the day of the murder and that he made the telephone at residence inoperative before he shot and killed the victim); Silvia v. State, 60 So. 3d 959, 971 (Fla. 2011)(The defendant claimed that he had been diagnosed with a personality and delusional disorder and that this diagnosis precluded the finding that he acted in a calm and reflective manner, as required by the CCP aggravator. This Court held that despite the defendant's personality disorder and alcohol dependence, his actions do not suggest a frenzied, spur-of-a moment attack, where there was no evidence of the impairment or intoxication at the time of the crime and the evidence showed that the defendant calmly purchased a shotgun and ammunition, drove to the victim's home and calmly talked to her, but when the victim did not want

• it .

to reconcile, the defendant walked back to his truck, got the shotgun and shot the victim seven times). The finding and weight given to the CCP aggravator in this case is supported by competent, substantial evidence, and it should be affirmed. Moreover, considering the evidence presented, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in assigning the great weight to the CCP aggravator.

None of the cases upon which Defendant relies on negates the trial court's finding that the murder was the product of the cool and calm reflection and not prompted by emotional frenzy, panic, or a fit of rage. Cannady v. State, 620 So. 2d 165 (Fla. 1993), Spencer v. State, 645 SO. 2d 377 (Fla. 1994), Maulden v. State, 617 So. 2d 298 (Fla. 1993) and Richardson v. State, 604 So. 2d 1107 (Fla. 1992), all involved "domestic" killings where passion and emotion was involved in a domestic setting. In particular, in Cannady, the defendant killed a man who he believed had raped his wife, causing her physical and emotional pain. In Spencer, the defendant murdered his estranged wife whom he believed was trying to steal the business they shared. In Maulden, the defendant murdered his ex-wife where his emotional distress grew after the separation and ex-wife's involvement with a new man and the defendant's perception that the new man replacing him as a father figure to his children. In was

<u>Richardson</u>, the defendant shot his girlfriend after a heated argument that involved an intensity of emotion. In all the above referenced cases, this Court held that the murders were not "cold" although it may have been "calculated," where "there was no deliberate plan formed through calm and cool reflection, only mad acts prompted by wild emotion."

, at .

Clearly, here, there was no "domestic" dispute where and emotion were involved. In particular, here, passion Defendant murdered his former co-worker (because he believed Jackson and Brown mistreated him and prevented him from regaining his employment with Coca-Cola), after he deliberately planed the murder of Jackson and announced his plans openly months and days before the actual murder. As previously stated, a few days before the murder, Defendant attempted to lure and kill Jackson at the Wal-Mart. When Jackson showed up, Defendant followed him, but decided to abandon his plan because there were too many people around. Then, a day before the murder, Defendant attempted to lure and kill Jackson at Carley's Car Care, but because Jackson did not show up, this plan failed. Finally, Defendant lured the victim at the college, waited for the victim to show up, then after he saw that Brown showed up instead of Jackson, he changed his plan and decided to kill Brown by shooting him six times.

Defendant further argues that if this Courts agrees with him and strikes the CCP aggravator, then the sentence of death should not be upheld considering the remaining aggravator of prior violent felony conviction and significant mitigation. Assuming arguendo, that this Court disapproves the finding of the CCP aggravating circumstance, the death sentence in this case would still be upheld under the circumstances. This Court has upheld the death penalty despite mitigation where the single-aggravator was found. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Ferrell v. State</u>, 680 So. 2d 390 (Fla. 1996) (sentence of death upheld where the single aggravator of prior violent felony and several nonstatutory mitigators were found); <u>see also Lemon v. State</u>, 456 So. 2d 885 (Fla. 1984), <u>cert. denied</u>, 469 U.S. 1230 (1985). The CCP aggravating circumstance should be affirmed.

, A.

## III. DEFENDANT'S CLAIM THAT IT IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL TO EXECUTE THE MENTALLY ILL IS UNPRESERVED, AND THE EXECUTION OF CAPITAL DEFENDANTS WHO SUFFER FROM MENTAL ILLNESS IS NOT UNCONSTITUTIONAL.

٠ 🖈 ،

Defendant next asserts that his death sentence is unconstitutional because he is mentally ill. However, this argument provides no basis for reversing Defendant's death sentence as it is unpreserved and meritless.

As this Court has held, a defendant cannot raise a claim on appeal unless he properly presented the issue to the trial court for resolution. <u>Evans v. State</u>, 975 So. 2d 1035, 1042 (Fla. 2007) (claim that it is unconstitutional to execute capital defendant because he is physically handicapped and mentally impaired not preserved in appellate proceeding because it was not raised in trial court); <u>see also Phillips v. State</u>, 894 So. 2d 28, 40 (Fla. 2004) (stating that claim that execution of the retarded was unconstitutional was unpreserved where issue was not raised in the trial court). Here, Defendant candidly admits that he never raised the claim that Florida's capital sentencing is unconstitutionally applied to individuals with mental illness below. As such, this issue is unpreserved and should be rejected as such.

Recognizing the claim is barred, Defendant suggests that it is appropriate to raise the claim now to avoid having the State claim that the claim is barred later during post conviction

proceedings. Initial Brief at 53 n.16. However, Defendant offers no explanation of how raising the barred claim now will prevent the State from arguing the claim is barred later. As this Court has recognized, a claim is barred unless it is both pursued at trial and raised on direct appeal. James v. State, 615 So. 2d 668, 669 (Fla. 1993). Thus, raising a claim that was not pursued in the trial court will not prevent the State from arguing this claim is barred later. This is all the more true as Florida law bars not only claims that could have and should have been raised on direct appeal but also claims that were raised on direct appeal. Francis v. Barton, 581 So. 2d 583, 584 (Fla. 1991). Given these circumstances, Defendant's suggestion that it is appropriate to raise this unpreserved issue now to avoid a procedural bar later is meritless. The issue is unpreserved and should be denied as such.

, A., .

Even if the issue was preserved, the issue should still be rejected. This Court has repeatedly ruled that the execution of the mentally ill is not unconstitutional. <u>Simmons v. State</u>, 2012 WL 4936109, \*26-\*27 (Fla. Oct. 18, 2012); <u>Johnston v. State</u>, 70 So. 3d 472, 484-85 (Fla. 2011); <u>Seibert v. State</u>, 64 So. 3d 67, 83 (Fla. 2010); <u>Schoenwetter v. State</u>, 46 So. 3d 535, 563 (Fla. 2010); <u>Johnston v. State</u>, 27 So. 3d 11, 26-27 (Fla. 2010); <u>Nixon</u> v. State, 2 So. 3d 137, 146 (Fla. 2009); <u>Power v. State</u>, 992 So.

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